EuroCigua II



SURVEILLANCE PROTOCOL FOR CIGUATERA POISONING IN THE EU

March 2024

Table of contents

Foreword	. 2
Scope and purpose	. 2
Disease Description	. 2
Introduction	. 2
Symptoms	. 3
Agent	. 3
Reservoirs	. 3
Modes of transmission	. 3
Incubation period	. 3
Period of communicability	. 3
Laboratory testing for fish	. 4
Disease Reporting	. 4
Objective	
Case definition	. 4
Other definitions	. 5
Reporting flow	. 5
Legal reporting requirements	. 5
Public Health Measures	. 6
Preventive measures	
Measures for single cases	. 6
Measures for outbreaks	. 7
References	. 7

Foreword

According to Regulation (EU) 2022/2371, epidemiological surveillance means the systematic collection, recording, analysis, interpretation and dissemination of data and analysis on communicable diseases and related special health issues.

According to Regulation (EU) 2022/2371 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 November 2022 on serious cross-border threats to health, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) shall ensure the integrated operation of the network for epidemiological surveillance of communicable diseases. Whenever relevant, the network for epidemiological surveillance shall work in close cooperation with the competent bodies of the organisations operating in the field of epidemiological surveillance of communicable diseases and of related special health issues, from the Union, third countries, the WHO, and other international organisations. The Member States (MS) should communicate comparable data of a list of communicable diseases, according to established case definitions, included in the Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2018/945. Ciguatera poisoning (CP) is not included in this list. However the reporting of investigated food-borne outbreaks has been mandatory for the European Union (EU) MS since 2003. The zoonoses directive 2003/99/EC states that Member States' Competent Authorities shall investigate food-borne outbreaks and transmit to the European Commission every year a summary report of the results of the investigations carried out. Based on an agreement with the European Commission, CP outbreaks data must be reported to the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) annually.

The EFSA, through a Framework Partnership Agreement (FPA), supports a multiannual and multinational project (EuroCigua II) to provide the basis for an integrated approach to assess the human health risks of ciguatoxins in fish in Europe. It aims at the epidemiological characterization of CP cases, the full characterization of the ciguatoxins (CTXs) profiles involved in CP contamination, the establishment of training programs for the laboratory detection of CTXs in fish, the production of reference materials, the risk characterization of the CP due to imported fish and the initiation of the work for predictive modelling on ciguatera in Europe.

https://www.sanidad.gob.es/en/areas/sanidadExterior/euroCiguaII/home.htm

Scope and purpose

This protocol is a guide for EU MS and European Economic Area (EEA) countries in order to carry out retrospective and prospective surveillance of CP in the EU/EEA¹ from 2020 to 2024 in a harmonized manner and on a voluntary basis for the duration of the FPA. The purpose of the surveillance is to characterize the epidemiological pattern of the CP in the EU/EEA.

The protocol is addressed to public health authorities dealing with epidemiological surveillance. The protocol will provide information on the disease, the reporting requirements and recommended public health actions. Public health authorities may consider disseminating the information to the health care system in order to raise awareness among health care professionals. This protocol is not intended to be a guide for outbreak investigation. Responsibility on outbreak investigation and measures implementation fall on the MS.

Disease Description

Introduction

CP is a clinical syndrome caused by eating fish contaminated with CTXs. The number of people suffering of the disease annually was estimated from 10,000-50,000 to 50.000-500.000 individuals, but true incidence

¹ Tropical overseas territories are excluded.

is difficult to know due to under ascertainment and under reporting. Ciguatoxic fish are usually distributed between latitudes 35° north and 35° south, mainly in the Caribbean, Indo-Pacific islands and the Indian Ocean. Occasionally, CP has been reported outside endemic areas, such as the Bahamas, Canada or Chile. In Europe, CP outbreaks due to consumption of fish from Europe (Canary Islands or Madeira) have been reported from Spain and Portugal. Cases of CP may also occur in non-endemic regions because of increasing consumption of imported contaminated fish.

Symptoms

CP patients may have gastrointestinal, neurological and cardiovascular symptoms. Symptoms presentation varies according to the individual characteristics and the geographical origin of the CTXs. Gastrointestinal symptoms precede or accompany the neurological symptoms. Neurologic symptoms usually appear two to 48 hours after eating the contaminated fish. Symptoms reported may include: nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, abdominal cramps, paraesthesia of lips, tongue and extremities, cold allodynia (burning pain caused by a normally innocuous cold stimulus), a metallic taste, arthralgia, myalgia, pruritus without urticarial or erythema, muscle weakness, blurred vision, hypotension and bradycardia. Cold allodynia is considered characteristic of CP, although it is not suffered by all patients; consumption of shellfish contaminated with brevetoxin may also produce allodynia. Neurological symptoms usually resolve in weeks, although some symptoms can last months. Recurrent symptoms may occur following the ingestion of food or beverages, mainly: alcohol, nuts or non-toxic fish. CP is rarely fatal. However, death may occur in severe cases due to severe dehydration, cardiovascular shock or respiratory failure.

Agent

CTXs are lipid-soluble, heat-stable and acid-resistance neurotoxins. CTXs activate the voltage-dependent sodium channels in cell membranes, which increases sodium ion permeability and depolarizes the nerve cell. The preferred classification is according to their structure, but they have also been classified as Pacific, Caribbean and Indian Ocean CTXs.

CTXs are produced by dinoflagellates of the genera *Gambierdiscus* or *Fukuyoa* that grow on and around reefs. Accumulation of CTXs in the marine food webs results from the ingestion of toxin-producing dinoflagellates by herbivorous fish, which are in turn preyed upon by larger carnivorous fish. The toxins are metabolised to more toxic forms as they move up the food webs. CTXs accumulate in higher concentrations in the visceral organs, roe (fish eggs), and carcasses (e.g. fish heads, eyes and bones).

Reservoirs

Over 400 known fish species from tropical and subtropical waters have been classified as potential CTXs carriers. Examples of the fish most frequently associated with ciguatera cases include: barracuda, grouper, amberjack, snapper, moray eel, hogfish, mackerel, surgeonfish, and parrotfish.

Modes of transmission

CP is due to the consumption of fish contaminated with CTXs. Person to person transmission of CTXs is extremely rare, but transmission from mother to child during breastfeeding or across the placenta and sexual transmission have been described.

Incubation period

The incubation period goes from 2 to 48 hours.

Period of communicability

The period of communicability from mother to child or through sexual transmission is unknown.

Laboratory testing for fish

Laboratory testing to detect CTXs in clinical samples is a challenge since their presence may be in very low amounts, while detection of CTXs in the fish is possible. Fish should be kept frozen at -20°C. This includes fish meal remnants. Fish samples should be double-bagged and securely sealed. In vitro cytotoxicity and receptor binding assays provide sufficient detection capability and they can detect all active toxin analogues. Immunoassays are presently available for some CTXs. Although these assays do not provide information on toxin profiles, they could be applied as screening methods for CTXs. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) methods allow specific detection of individual analogues of Pacific, Caribbean and Indian Ocean CTXs and they may provide CTXs quantification in fish extracts. None of the current methods of analysis to determine CTXs in fish has been formally validated.

If any country does not have the lab capacity for detection of CTXs during the investigation of a CP case or outbreak, testing of fish samples may be possible for research purposes within the project. The feasibility of the request would be assessed case by case contacting the email: eurocigua2@sanidad.gob.es

Disease Reporting

Objective

1. To characterize the epidemiological pattern of ciguatera food poisoning in the EU/EEA.

Case definition

Clinical Criteria

Any person having neurologic symptoms, if other causes have been excluded. Most frequent symptoms are: paraesthesia, cold allodynia, dysesthesia, pruritus without urticarial or erythema, diffuses pain and muscle weakness.

Gastrointestinal symptoms (nausea, vomiting, and diarrhoea) often precede or accompany the neurological symptoms. Cardiovascular symptoms and signs (hypotension and bradycardia) may also be present.

Epidemiological Criteria

Epidemiological criteria for a confirmed case:

Consumption of fish with laboratory confirmed contamination of ciguatoxins in 48 hours prior to disease onset.

Epidemiological criteria for a probable case:

Consumption of fish (species, common name or type) previously associated with ciguatera poisoning (e.g., moray eel, amberjack, barracuda, snapper, or grouper) (Annex 1)² in 48 hours prior to disease onset.

OR

Exposure to the same common source as a confirmed case in 48 hours prior to disease onset.

Epidemiological criteria for a possible case:

Consumption of fish (species, common name or type) either NOT previously associated with ciguatera poisoning or of unknown type, in 48 hours prior to disease onset.

Case Classification

_

² It is an incomplete list. It can be updated.

A. Possible case

Any person meeting the clinical criteria and the epidemiological criterion for a possible case.

B. Probable case

Any person meeting the clinical criteria and the epidemiological criterion for a probable case.

C. Confirmed case

Any person meeting the clinical criteria and the epidemiological criterion for a confirmed case.

Other definitions

Outbreak definition

Two or more cases with an epidemiological link.

Case/outbreak associated with consumption of autochthonous fish

Case or outbreak associated with consumption of a fish harvested within the EU/EEA³.

Case/outbreak associated with consumption of imported fish

Case or outbreak associated with consumption of a fish harvested outside the EU/EEA³.

Travel associated case/outbreak

Case/outbreak associated with consumption of fish in a tropical endemic area.

Reporting flow

The National Centre of Epidemiology (CNE), belonging to the Spanish Public Health Institute and leader of the epidemiological part of the EuroCigua II project, will collate and analyse the data on CP cases and outbreaks received from the MSs that voluntarily agree to participate in the collection of CP cases and outbreaks. Specific questionnaires (Annex 2 and 3) have been prepared to collect homogenous information. Every case, including outbreak related cases, should be reported through the case report form (Annex 2).

Moreover the CNE will collect information on ciguatera cases and outbreaks from any other available source.

Legal reporting requirements

According to the zoonoses directive 2003/99/EC, competent authorities shall investigate food-borne outbreaks and transmit to the Commission (on the basis of an agreement between EFSA and the EC, this data is reported in an electronic reporting system and a database managed by EFSA) a summary report of the results of the investigations carried out. Requirements for the summary reports to be submitted by the Member States' competent authorities pursuant to Article 9 (1) of that directive are;

- (a) total number of outbreaks over a year;
- (b) number of human deaths and illnesses in these outbreaks;
- (c) the causative agents of the outbreaks, including, where possible, serotype or other definitive description of the agents. Where the identification of the causative agent is not possible, the reason for such unidentifiability should be stated
- (d) foodstuffs implicated in the outbreak and other potential vehicles;

5

³ Tropical overseas territories are excluded.

- (e) identification of the type of place where the foodstuff incriminated was produced/purchased/acquired/consumed;
- (f) contributory factors, for example, deficiencies in food processing hygiene.

Guidance for the reporting of annual food-borne outbreaks monitoring data can be found on the EFSA website.

Regulation (UE) 2022/2371 on serious cross-border threats to health mention that national competent authorities or the Commission shall notify an alert when the event is unusual or unexpected, it affects or may affect more than one Member State, and it requires or may require a coordinated response at Union level.

Each State Party shall notify World Health Organization of all events which may constitute a public health emergency of international concern within its territory, according to International Health Regulations.

CP cases may be reported to the competent authorities in some countries or regions within the EU/EEA. In the Canary Islands (Spain) reporting of CP from health care practitioners is mandatory.

Public Health Measures

Preventive measures

Avoiding consuming large predatory reef fish from affected areas could help preventing CP. Greater illness severity is associated with eating the fish head or organs. Thus, it is also advisable to avoid consuming visceral organs, roe (fish eggs), and carcasses (e.g. fish heads, eyes and bones).

CTXs are heat-stable toxins and cooking or freezing of the fish will not destroy them. Moreover, CTXs are odourless and tasteless and toxic fish cannot be identified by appearance or behaviour.

It is important to raise awareness among the public and health professionals. Travellers to affected areas should receive educational information about symptoms, transmission mode and prevention and control measures.

Since CP may be transmitted through breastfeeding and unprotected sexual intercourse, advised on refrain from breastfeeding and sexual intercourse (unprotected) while patient is symptomatic should be considered.

Measures for single cases

Cases

Per case, information should be gathered about the illness and consumption of fish in the two days before illness (Annex 2). Samples of the suspected fish or meal should be collected for CTXs testing. Identification and removal of the toxic fish to prevent further cases it is a priority. Information about the fish should be obtained, if possible.

Inform patient that ingestion of some substances (mainly alcohol, fish and nuts) may cause recurrent CP symptoms.

Treatment

There is no specific treatment: symptomatic and supportive treatments may be necessary.

Intravenous mannitol infusion is the most studied therapy for CP. It is suggested that it should be given within 48-72 hours of eating the toxic fish, although beneficial effects have been observed even up to several weeks after onset of symptoms. The results of a double-blind randomized study of mannitol treatment indicate that mannitol and normal saline were associated with clinical improvement and mannitol was not superior to saline. Hazards of mannitol treatment include loss of further fluids in patients suffering from

acute diarrhoea and vomiting and that patients experiencing bradycardia and hypotension are at higher risk of cardiac failure if infused with high doses of mannitol.

Measures for outbreaks

Any case of CP should be investigated as a possible outbreak. For outbreaks (two or more cases with an epidemiological link) an outbreak questionnaire should be completed (Annex 3).

References

- Bagnis R, Kuberski T, Laugier S. Clinical observations on 3,009 cases of ciguatera (fish poisoning) in the South Pacific. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1979; 28:1067.
 Lawrence DN, Enriquez MB, Lumish RM, Maceo A. Ciguatera fish poisoning in Miami. JAMA 1980; 244:254.
- 2. Withers NW. Ciguatera fish poisoning. Annu Rev Med 1982; 33:97.
- 3. Holt RJ, Miro G, Del Valle A. An analysis of poison control center reports of ciguatera toxicity in Puerto Rico for one year. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 1984; 22:177.
- 4. Davis RT, Villar LA. Symptomatic improvement with amitriptyline in ciguatera fish poisoning. N Engl J Med 1986; 315:65.
- 5. Gillespie NC, Lewis RJ, Pearn JH, et al. Ciguatera in Australia. Occurrence, clinical features, pathophysiology and management. Med J Aust 1986; 145:584.
- 6. Lewis ND. Disease and development: ciguatera fish poisoning. Soc Sci Med 1986; 23:983.
- 7. Calvert GM, Hryhorczuk DO, Leikin JB. Treatment of ciguatera fish poisoning with amitriptyline and nifedipine. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 1987; 25:423.
- 8. Palafox NA, Jain LG, Pinano AZ, et al. Successful treatment of ciguatera fish poisoning with intravenous mannitol. JAMA 1988; 259:2740.
- 9. Berlin RM, King SL, Blythe DG. Symptomatic improvement of chronic fatigue with fluoxetine in ciguatera fish poisoning. Med J Aust 1992; 157:567.
- 10. Lange WR, Snyder FR, Fudala PJ. Travel and ciguatera fish poisoning. Arch Intern Med 1992; 152:2049.
- 11. Glaziou P, Legrand AM. The epidemiology of ciguatera fish poisoning. Toxicon 1994; 32:863.
- 12. Benoit E, Juzans P, Legrand AM, Molgo J. Nodal swelling produced by ciguatoxin-induced selective activation of sodium channels in myelinated nerve fibers. Neuroscience 1996; 71:1121.
- 13. Eastaugh JA. Delayed use of intravenous mannitol in ciguatera (fish poisoning). Ann Emerg Med 1996; 28:105.
- 14. Quod JP, Turquet J. Ciguatera in Réunion Island (SW Indian Ocean): epidemiology and clinical patterns. Toxicon 1996; 34:779.
- 15. Lipp EK, Rose JB. The role of seafood in foodborne diseases in the United States of America. Rev Sci Tech 1997; 16:620.
- 16. Pearn JH. Chronic fatigue syndrome: chronic ciguatera poisoning as a differential diagnosis. Med J Aust 1997; 166:309.
- 17. Chan TY. Lengthy persistence of ciguatoxin in the body. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1998; 92:662.
- 18. Lehane L, Lewis RJ. Ciguatera: recent advances but the risk remains. Int J Food Microbiol 2000; 61:91. Whittle K, Gallacher S. Marine toxins. Br Med Bull 2000; 56:236.
- 19. Lewis RJ. The changing face of ciguatera. Toxicon 2001; 39:97.
- 20. Pearn J. Neurology of ciguatera. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2001; 70:4.
- 21. Perez CM, Vasquez PA, Perret CF. Treatment of ciguatera poisoning with gabapentin. N Engl J Med 2001; 344:692.

- 22. Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council. Official Journal of the European Union. 2001;L31/1-24.
- 23. Schnorf H, Taurarii M, Cundy T. Ciguatera fish poisoning: a double-blind randomized trial of mannitol therapy. Neurology 2002; 58:873.
- 24. Directive 2003/99/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. Official Journal of the European Union. 2003:L325/31-40.
- 25. Regulation (EC) No 851/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council. Official Journal of the European Union. 2004:L142/1-11.
- 26. Hung YM, Hung SY, Chou KJ, et al. Short report: persistent bradycardia caused by ciguatoxin poisoning after barracuda fish eggs ingestion in southern Taiwan. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2005; 73:1026.
- 27. Isbister GK, Kiernan MC. Neurotoxic marine poisoning. Lancet Neurol 2005; 4:219.
- 28. Sobel J, Painter J. Illnesses caused by marine toxins. Clin Infect Dis 2005; 41:1290.
- 29. Begier EM, Backer LC, Weisman RS, et al. Outbreak bias in illness reporting and case confirmation in ciguatera fish poisoning surveillance in south Florida. Public Health Rep 2006; 121:658.
- 30. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Ciguatera fish poisoning--Texas, 1998, and South Carolina, 2004. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2006; 55:935.
- 31. Friedman MA, Arena P, Levin B, et al. Neuropsychological study of ciguatera fish poisoning: a longitudinal case-control study. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 2007; 22:545.
- 32. Lawrence DT, Dobmeier SG, Bechtel LK, Holstege CP. Food poisoning. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2007; 25:357.
- 33. Friedman MA, Fleming LE, Fernandez M, et al. Ciguatera fish poisoning: treatment, prevention and management. Mar Drugs 2008; 6:456.
- 34. Gatti C, Oelher E, Legrand AM. Severe seafood poisoning in French Polynesia: a retrospective analysis of 129 medical files. Toxicon 2008; 51:746.
- 35. Schwarz ES, Mullins ME, Brooks CB. Ciguatera poisoning successfully treated with delayed mannitol. Ann Emerg Med 2008; 52:476.
- 36. World Health Organization. International health regulations (2005). WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data. 2008.
- 37. World Health Organization. Foodborne Disease Outbreaks: Guidelines for Investigation and Control. WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data. 2008.
- 38. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Cluster of ciguatera fish poisoning--North Carolina, 2007. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009; 58:283.
- 39. Dickey RW, Plakas SM. Ciguatera: a public health perspective. Toxicon 2010; 56:123.
- 40. Senthilkumaran S, Meenakshisundaram R, Michaels AD, et al. Cardiovascular Complications in Ciguatera Fish Poisoning: A Wake-up Call. Heart Views 2011; 12:166.
- 41. Schlaich C, Hagelstein JF, Burchard GD, Schmiedel S. Outbreak of ciguatera fish poisoning on a cargo ship in the port of Hamburg. J Travel Med 2012; 19:238.
- 42. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Ciguatera fish poisoning New York City, 2010-2011. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2013; 62:61.
- 43. Cire Antilles Guyane. La ciguatera dans les Antilles franÇaises. Bulletin de veille sanitaire 2013; 3:1.
- 44. Regulation (EU) 2022/2371 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 November 2022 on serious cross-border threats to health. Official Journal of the European Union. 2022:L314/26.
- 45. Pennotti R, Scallan E, Backer L, et al. Ciguatera and scombroid fish poisoning in the United States. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2013; 10:1059.

- 46. Bilic E, Hajnsek S, Kello N, et al. Neurotoxin-induced fibromyalgia or fibromyalgia after ciguatera (tilapia fish) poisoning? Neurol Croat 2014; 63:1.
- 47. Epelboin L, Pérignon A, Hossen V, et al. Two clusters of ciguatera fish poisoning in Paris, France, related to tropical fish imported from the French Caribbean by travelers. J Travel Med 2014; 21:397.
- 48. Mattei C, Vetter I, Eisenblätter A, et al. Ciguatera fish poisoning: a first epidemic in Germany highlights an increasing risk for European countries. Toxicon 2014; 91:76.
- 49. Public Health England National Health Service: Advice for prescribers on the risk of the misuse of pregabalin and gabapentin. 2014.
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/385791/PHE-NHS_England_pregabalin_and_gabapentin_advice_Dec_2014.pdf (Accessed on December 2, 2016).
- 50. Brett J, Murnion B. Pregabalin to treat ciguatera fish poisoning. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 2015; 53:588.
- 51. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Investigating outbreaks. https://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/outbreaks/investigating-outbreaks/. Page last updated: May 25, 2016.
- 52. Friedman MA, Fernandez M, Backer LC, Dickey RW, et al, An updated review of ciguatera fish poisoning: clinical, epidemiological, environmental and public health management. Mar Drugs 2017, 15(3), 72.
- 53. Boucaud-Maitre D, Vernoux JP, Pelczar S, et al. Incidence and clinical characteristics of ciguatera fish poisoning in Guadeloupe (French West Indies) between 2013 and 2016: a retrospective cases-series. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):3095. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-21373-2.
- 54. Friedemann M. Ciguatera fish poisoning outbreaks from 2012 to 2017 in Germany caused by snappers from India, Indonesia, and Vietnam. Journal of Consumer Protection and Food Safety [Internet]. 2019 Mar 1;14(1):71–80.
- 55. Estevez P, Castro D, Pequeño-Valtierra A, Giraldez J, Gago-Martinez A. Emerging Marine Biotoxins in Seafood from European Coasts: Incidence and Analytical Challenges. Foods. 2019;8(5):149. doi:10.3390/foods8050149.
- 56. FAO and WHO. Report of the Expert Meeting on Ciguatera Poisoning. Rome, 19–23 November 2018. Food Safety and Quality. 2020. No. 9. Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca8817en.
- 57. Costa PR, Estévez P, Soliño L, Castro D, Rodrigues SM, Timoteo V, et al. An Update on Ciguatoxins and CTX-like Toxicity in Fish from Different Trophic Levels of the Selvagens Islands (NE Atlantic, Madeira, Portugal). Toxins (Basel). 2021 Aug 20;13(8):580.
- 58. Ramos-Sosa MJ, García-Álvarez N, Sanchez-Henao A, Silva Sergent F, Padilla D, Estévez P, et al. Ciguatoxin Detection in Flesh and Liver of Relevant Fish Species from the Canary Islands. Toxins (Basel). 2022 Jan 9;14(1):46.
- 59. Estevez P, Gago-Martinez A. Contribution of Mass Spectrometry to the Advances in Risk Characterization of Marine Biotoxins: Towards the Characterization of Metabolites Implied in Human Intoxications. Toxins (Basel) [Internet]. 2023 Jan 22 [cited 2023 Apr 17];15(2):103.